

POPULATION AND HOUSING CENSUS 1987

1st-21st SEPTEMBER, 1987

ENUMERATOR'S MANUAL

USE THIS MANUAL ALL THE TIME YOU ARE WORKING IN THE FIELD

Census Headquarters
National Statistical Office
P.O. Box 333
Zomba, Malaŵi

POPULATION AND HOUSING

CENSUS

1987

1ST - 21ST SEPTEMBER, 1987

ENUMERATOR'S MANUAL

To Enumerators:

The Population and Housing Cenaus enumeration starts on the ist September and ends on 21st September, 1987 when every household and dwelling unit in Malawi will have been visited by an enumerator. In order to achieve this coverage there will be about 8,500 enumerators, of whom you are one. Because of this large number you might feel that you are one of the least important persons working on the census; but this is not so. In fact the reverse is true; you with your fellow enumerators, are the most important persons of all, as it is only if your forms are completed properly, and you visit every household in your area without exception, including other structures, that the census can be 100% correct. The whole organization therefore depends on you.

In order to do your job properly it is easential that you work diligently during your training course and study this manual carefully. The first part of the manual briefly discusses the purposes of the census, so that you understand the background to your work and can answer people's questions about it; it then tells you how to organize your work and how to obtain the answers to the questions on the form. (No copy of the questionnaire is included in the manual but you will have your own questionnaire forms for training purposes.) The second part of the manual instructs you in detail exactly how to record the answers on questionnaire.

You must always carry this manual with you when you are enumerating and refer to it whenever you are in doubt; if you are not absolutely sure at any point then stop and check the instructions. You will also need to show your Letter of Introduction and Oath of Office and Secrecy to anybody who asks about your authority.

Among all your numerous and detailed instructions there is one which you must bear in mind at all times: the need to keep the information which you collect absolutely confidential. You must never discuss what you have learned with anybody other than your Field Supervisor or other Senior Census Officers, and you must not reveal anything to anybody else whomsoever-either by speaking about it or by leaving a completed questionnaire where somebody else can see it.

The job you have to do will not be easy: it will involve long hours, including weekends, and many miles of walking. When you have completed it satisfactorily you will be entitled to receive K35 to provide a small bonus and to cover your out-of-pocket expenses but I hope that your main reward will be a feeling of pride in having done a difficult job well and in having helped to provide the population and housing data which will form the basis for aconomic and social planning in Malawi for the next ten years.

H. E. Namarika COMMISSIONER FOR CENSUS AND STATISTICS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Paga
Forward	1
What is a Population and Housing Census	1
Why is it Necessary to Have a Census?	1
Confidentiality of the Census Information	1
Definitions and Concepts	2
Pre-Enumeration Arrangements	3
The People who must be Counted	4
Procedures of Interviewing	5
How to get Correct Answers to the Questions Age Race Migration Literacy Education Marital Status Economic Activity Occupation Industry Number of Children Ever Born Alive Deaths occurred in the Household Since September, 1986 Household Economic Activities	8 9 9 10 10 11 11 14 14 15
How to Complete the Questionnaire Forms	18
Completion of the Household Questionnaire Form	19
Completion of Record of Vacent and Other Structures Form	32
Completion of Record of Community Facilities Form	34
Completion of Daily Record of Enumeration Form (Form PHC/87/4)	35
Checks and Completion	36
Remuneration	36
Population Census Industrial Classification	37

SECTION I

WHAT IS A POPULATION AND HOUSING CENSUS

1. A Population and Housing Census is a complete enumeration of ALL the people, ALL the housing units and ALL other structures in a country. The enumeration of the population covers the young and the old, Malawian and foreigner, resident and visitor, and collects information on characteristics which describe the distribution, composition and development of the people. The housing component of the Census collects information on stock, condition and usage of the structures.

WHY IS IT NECESSARY TO HAVE A CENSUS?

- 2. You may wonder why the Malawi Government, like any other government, finds it necessary to spend so much effort and money just to take a census every ten years or so.
- 3. We all take little censuses in our everyday lives. The good mother, for instance, finds out how many persons will be at home for a meal before she cooks food, so that she will not have too much and waste food or too little and leave her family hungry. To serve the customers better, an efficient shopkeeper must know what goods he has in stock, how many of each item and on which shelf he keeps them.
- 4. The Malawi Government must take a census so that like a good mother, it knows how many people there are and where they are, so that it can administer and develop the country well and use its resources to the best advantage of us all.
- 5. Since independence in 1964 Malawi has conducted two population censuses, one in 1966 and the other in 1977, in order to know the size, composition and distribution of the population. However, the further we get from 1977 the more the census figures become out of date and therefore it is necessary to have a fresh census now in order to get accurate and up-to-date figures.

CONFIDENTIALITY OF THE CENSUS INFORMATION

- 6. The Statistics Act, 1967, gives you the authority to hak for information, but, at the same time, it does not allow you to disclose at any time any details which you may learn during your work with regard to individuals. Therefore, You will be required to take an Oath of Office and Secrecy.
- 7. To ensure confidentiality you must observe the following rules:
 - (a) You must not let anybody look at your completed questionnaires other than your Supervisor and Senior Officers engaged on the census.
 - (b) You must not tell anybody anything about the enswers you get to the questions, either at the time of the census or afterwards.

- (c) You must do the work yourself and not allow any person who has not taken the oath as a census enumerator to do it for you.
- (d) You must look after your questionnaires and other forms carefully and not leave them where they can be mislaid or looked at by any other person.
- 8. Explain clearly to the people that whatever information you obtain will be kept strictly confidential and will be used for statistical purposes only. Under no circumstances will such information be used to anybody's disadvantage.
- 9. It is likely that the village headman or his elders may be present when you are asking questions, in which case you should explain the need for confidentiality in this matter to the village headman or his elders who may attend if the respondent has no objection.
- 10. You will be supplied with a badge labelled "CENSUS" which you must always wear when on duty and you will have an official letter of appointment as an enumerator to show that you are authorized by law to ask for information. You must always carry this letter when you are enumerating.

DEFINITIONS AND CONCEPTS

- 11. ENUMERATION AREA (EA): An EA is the area to be covered by one enumerator. It may comprise part of a village, a whole village or several villages, estate(s), trading centre, mission centres or part of an urban area. The EAs have already been demarcated and the boundaries are marked on the maps which will be given to you.
- 12. VILLAGE/PLACE: In this census a village means the area controlled by the village headman and recognized by the District Administration. A place may be part of a village or any area other than a village whose name is locally known.
- 13. HOUSEHOLD: It consists of one or more persons, related or unrelated, who make common provision for food. They regularly take all their food from the same pot, and/or share the same grainstore (nkhokwe) or pool their incomes for purposes of purchasing food. Persons in a household may live in one or more dwelling units.
- 14. HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD: This is a person among the household members who is acknowledged by other members of the same household as their "head". He/she is often the one who makes most decisions concerning the welfare of the members of the household. If there are two or more unrelated persons in a household treat one of them as head.

- 15. DWELLING UNIT(DU): It may be defined as any building, permanent or temporary, where people sleep. It may be a hut, a house, a store with a sleeping room or rooms at the back or sides, a shelter of reeds/straw such as those used by fishermen, or any other structure where people sleep.
- 16. VACANT STRUCTURE: It is a building which is intended for sleeping but is not occupied.
- 17. OTHER STRUCTURES: These are buildings which are neither dwelling units nor vacant structures, for example, school blocks, halls, churches, offices, etc..

18. CALENDAR OF EVENTS

- (a) National Calendar: Is a summary of events and the dates of their occurrence. These events are recognised and acknowledged throughout the country.
- (b) District Calendar: Is similar to the National Calendar except that these events relate to a particular district.

PRE-ENUMERATION ARRANGEMENTS

- 19. When your training is over you will follow this procedure:
- (a) Before you leave for your EA:
 - (i) Make sure you have sworn an Oath of Office and Secrecy.
 - (ii) Check that your EA matchel ham the correct label.
 - (iii) Check the contents of your enumeration satchel against the list below and make sure that you have everything you are supposed to have.
 - 1. Enumeration Area map and Boundary description
 - Enumerator's manual (already distributed)
 - 3. Census questionnaire pads (10 for rural EAs and 15 for urban EAs).
 - 4. Letter of Introduction
 - 5 Oath of Office and Secrecy form (2 forms)
 - 6. Calendars of Events (National and District)
 - 7. Summary sheets, Form PHC/87/4 (15 sheets for rural EAs and 20 sheets for urban EAs).
 - 8. 2 Census posters
 - 9. Census badge
 - 10. 3 blue ball-point pens (1 already given)
 - 11. 10 Sticks of chalk
 - 12. Tie-on labels 410 for urban EAs and 100 for rural EAs).
 - 13. Strings for tie-on labels.
 - (iv) Arrange a place and time for a meeting with your Field Supervisor, who will advise you on your itinerary for the first few days, and proceed immediately to your enumeration area.

- (b) Before you start enumeration on 1st September, 1987:
 - (1) Meet the village headman and Party leaders. Talk to the village headman and other leaders about the census and its objectives. Gain their confidence, dispel any fears and doubts they may have and try to win their full co-operation. That done, identify your enumeration area by going round the boundaries using the EA map and the description of EA boundaries and by going round with the village headman and or a responsible member of the community. Make sure you take note of all the isolated houses which belong to the EA and ask particularly whether there are other houses which are detached from the main cluster of houses but belonging to your EA.
 - (ii) You should plan the best way of going round your area when enumerating so as not to waste time going to and fro unnecessarily. Plan your visit in such a way that you will not miss any structures at all.
- (c) Before the next daya' enumeration: Inform the village headman which groups of houses you intend to enumerate the following day and kindly request him to make arrangements for as many people as possible and at least one responsible adult from each household to remain at home that day until you have made a visit. Inform him that if any visitors have spent the previous night at those households you intend to visit the next day, they should await your coming or come to see you before they leave the village.

THE PEOPLE WHO MUST BE COUNTED

- 20. This census is the enumeration of all the persons who spent the night in the dwelling units prior to the enumerators visit. Even if someone claims to have been enumerated in another EA he should still be enumerated.
- 21. When you get to a household some people may have gone to the garden, others to fetch water or to herd cattle, while others will have gone to work elsewhere. In that case you should ensure that even these are enumerated as long as they spent the night at the household the night prior to your visit. The important point is to make sure that in every dwelling unit of the household everyone who spent the night there is counted and anyone who did not is not counted. People often forget visitors and young children especially those born recently, and after the names of all the people have been given, it is necessary to ask whether there are any visitors or babies who have been missed out.
- 22. Night Workers: Such as watchmen, policemen, fishermen or shift workers should be included in the enumeration of their households as having spent the night there. People away over night for wedding, initiation ceremony, funeral or any other ceremony should be included in the enumeration of their respective households.

- 23. The newly born and the dead: Children born at any time of the day before you arrive at a house should be enumerated. However, those who spent the night at the household but have died before you arrive should not be listed but rather should be recorded as dead.
- 24. Hospitals, markets, hotels, hostels, and rest-houses: Some people sleep out in markets and others in public places such as hospitals, hotels, hostels and rest-houses. You must arrange to visit these places if any in your EA either in the evening or very early in the morning. If you go in the evening you should enumerate people who intend to sleep there whilst if you go in the morning you should enumerate those who spent the night there. Enumeration of a public place should be completed on the same day to avoid enumerating a different group of people.
 - 25. ENUMERATING YOURSELF: If you actually live in your own enumeration area you will record yourself when you enumerate your own household. If you are living at your own household in one enumeration area but commuting to work in a different enumeration area you will be counted by another enumerator when he calls at your household. In case you are sent to work in an area away from your home you will probably be sleeping at different places each night. If you are sleeping in the EA you are working in you enumerate yourself, alteratively if you are sleeping in another EA make sure that you are enumerated by your colleague. You should also note that although you might have worked as an enumerator the previous week your occupation should be recorded as a teacher or your normal occupation if other than teacher.

PROCEDURES OF INTERVIEWING

- 26. In order to have a systematic daily procedure and uniformity among enumerators the following instructions are laid down for you to follow:
 - (a) When asking questions from the questionnaires you should be concise and tactful. Do not give the respondent the impression that you are not sure of what is meant by any of the questions. It is therefore, absolutely essential that you master your manual and other related documents before going into the field.
 - (b) When you first meet the head or a responsible member of the household tell him or her who you are and why you have come. Be polite and good humoured and ask courteously whether the household members will be kind enough to answer your questions. They are in fact obliged by law to answer the questions, but you should not mention this unless they refuse to co-operate. Try to convince them, and if they fail to co-operate inform the village headman and the local Party leaders before you report to your Field Supervisor.
 - (c) Before you can start asking questions make sure that you have first identified the members comprising the household correctly and also the exact number of dwelling units belonging to the household.

- Assign an appropriate serial number to this household. (d) This number should be the same as that you write on the questionnaire. Mark the letters PHC followed by the household serial number clearly with chalk on the front door or at the top of the main entrance door. Where chalk cannot be used to indicate the household number, for example dwelling units built with reeds, you should use the tie-on labels which have been provided. In case a household has more than one dwelling unit, for example, 3 DUs to a household of serial number PHC 012, number these DUs as PHC 012/1, PHC 012/2 and PHC 012/3. The DU number PHC 012/1 in this case should be the one occupied by the household head. However, if there is only one DU to a household, then the DU should simply be numbered PHC 012.
- (e) You must then record all the names of persons who spent the previous night at the household in the space provided in the questionnaire. Always list the names first together with the "relationship" and "sex". After recording all the people who spent the night at the household the previous night including those in paragraphs 22 and 23 read back the names and relationship and ask if anybody is left out. Only when you are satisfied that you have listed everybody who slept there the night before must you go back to the first person and fill in the other details about that person. Then fill in the details for the second person, and then the third, fourth, and so on until you finish all the people in the DUs belonging to the household.
- (f) Sometimes, the wife may be unable to give you satisfactory information regarding her husband's age, education or even his full name. In such instances arrange to call again when the husband is back home from work.
- (g) Check if you have filled in all the details for every parts of the questionnaire correctly and fully before leaving for the next household.
- (h) Before you leave a household you must check if there are any outbuildings e.g. kitchen, room with separate outside door, etc. where people slept the previous night and ensure that everybody has been enumerated.
- (i) If a village or place is not indicated on your EA map but falls within the EA boundary you should enumerate this village or place and report to your Field Supervisor.
- 27. Each time you enumerate a new household you must use a fresh questionnaire form even if there are lines left out on the previous one. For example there may be one person enumerated at household PHC 006, but you must still use a new questionnaire form for household PHC 007 and another for household PHC 008, etc.
- 28. While numbering households you should proceed from one household to the next in a systematic and if necessary, in a serpentine manner, numbering contiguous households consecutively. Household numbers must be continuous within the

enumeration area, whether there is one or more villages. For example, in an enumeration area which has more than one village, if the first village has PHC 090 as the last number, the first household in the next village will be numbered PHC 091. If the last household in the second village is PHC 126, and you have a third village in the EA, the first household in the third village will be numbered PHC 127, etc.

- 29. When enumerating in markets, and institutions such as hospitals, hotels and schools or other institutions which are not occupied on the household basis you should treat the whole institution as one unit. Write its full name on the questionnaire against 'village or place' and assign it a code number, "999" against the household number in 'column 10-12'. Enumerate the inmates continuously without missing any lines on the questionnaire. Each one of them will be regarded as head under the relationship column.
- 30. If the inatitution is divided into "houses", "blocks", hospital "wards" or "dormitories" it will be convenient to record each of these as a separate unit using a fresh questionnaire for each such section of the institution.
- 31. Staff housing, servant quarters or other separate dwellings which are part of the institution but are occupied on a permanent household basis will be treated as separate households in the normal way.
- 32. Before enumerating those people who sleep at market places or other open places make sure that you have identified all the sleeping places where they sleep.
- 33. CALL-BACK VISIT: A call-back visit is needed when you have to go back to a household to enumerate. This is necessary if on your earlier visit there was no responsible adult at home to give all the relevant information or there was no one at all at the time of your visit. In such cases you must find out from the children there or from neighbours when someone will be at home and you should plan to go back at that particular time. If a call-back is a failure for the first time you should call back again. You are advised to visit the household until the information is collected before the end of the enumeration period. Even in the cases you have to call back, you must, on the first visit, assign a household number on the questionnaire form and also mark the number on the dwelling unit(s).
- 34. If you have more than 5 cases of call-backs in a short time in one village, discuss the problem with the village headman or the Party officials or the Ward Councillor or any other local leaders, appealing to them to make arrangements for people to stay at home at specified times (or meet you before they leave their homes). If this fails to give the desired results then report the matter to your Field Supervisor as the people may be avoiding you deliberately. If you do not find people during the day the best thing may be to visit them early in the morning, during the lunch hour, or in the evening when people will have returned home from work.

- 8 -

SECTION II

HOW TO GET CORRECT ANSWERS TO THE QUESTIONS

35. When asking questions make sure that you phrase them in such a way that they collect information that was intended. Rephrase questions if the respondent does not seem to understand and ask additional questions if the respondent gives irrelevant or incomplete answers.

AGE

- 36. Information on age is to be collected in years completed in respect of each member of the household, including babies and visitors who slept in the DU(s) belonging to the household the previous night. For example this can be done by asking questions such as "How old is John?" followed by "When was John born?" Record the age in years completed and not the date of birth.
- 37. If a person gives his age with a fraction of a year, such as 8 years 6 months or 27 years and 3 months, ignore the fraction, that is use the 8 years or 27 years only. If a child's age is given as, for example, 9 months, record '00' that is, under one year old.
- 38. For the purpose of recording ages the date of 11th September, 1987 has been selected as the reference-point of the census. Note especially, therefore, that children born on or after 11th September 1986 will be recorded as under 1 year, i.e. as '00'; those born from 11th September, 1985 to 10th September, 1986 will be recorded as '01'; those from 11th September, 1984 to 10th September, 1985 will be recorded as '02', and so on.
- There are some people who do not know exactly how old they are. You are, however, required to write the age of every person and must, therefore, try your best to get as accurate ages as possible. You have been given a Calendar of Events to help you assess individuals ages. This calendar presents a fairly good record of events which people may associate with either their own births or the births of their children. For example, a person may be unable to tell you his/her age. You should look at the person and form an impression about his/her age. Having done this you refer to the Calendar of Events and spot the earliest event which the person remembers. Find out how old the person was at that time. It is possible that the person indicates his/her age at the time of occurrence of the event by ahowing a child or by gestures how tall he or she was at that time. If a person names an event and your calendar tells you that this would make him of an age which is very unlikely according to his appearance, then you must ask further questions.
- 40. If the person does not know or remember any of the events given in the calendar of event then make the best possible assessment of the age by looking at him/her, or relating his/her age to that of other members of the household or other relatives whose ages are known.

41. Once you have a correct age or a good estimate for one person within the same household try to relate ages of other persons to that age. The older the people are, the more uncertain the assessment of age is likely to be, but you should put down the age which appears most probable from the evidence you are able to collect through questions and the appearance of the person, if he is present. Particular care must be taken in assessing and recording the ages of young children. In every instance you must make the best assessment possible and you must put down the age of every person recorded.

RACE

- 42. If the race of the person is not obvious then it will be necessary to ask.
- 43. Africans include persons whose any of their ancestors are of African origin. However, if he objects to being so recorded, you will write down the race which he tells you.
- 44. Europeans include persons from Europe and also persons from Canada, the U.S.A., the South American Republics, Australia, New Zealand, Russia, Israel and persons born in Africa whose ancestors came from any of the above countries.
- 45. Asians include persons from India, Pakistan, China, Jepan, Bangladesh, Arabs not from Northern Africa, and persons born in Africa whose ancestors came from any of the Asian countries.

MIGRATION

PLACE OF BIRTH

- 46. In this census the birthplace of a person is the place of usual residence of the person's mother at the time of his or her birth. For instance, if a woman is living in Blantyre with her employed husband and the child is born in a Blantyre hospital you will take Blantyre as the district of birth of her child. If the mother went to her parents' home in Mzimba for the birth you should still take Blantyre as the district of birth. Similarly, you will not take Thyolo just because the mother went to Malamulo Hospital from Blantyre for the birth. She is not normally resident there and the district of birth is Blantyre. If a child whose parents are foreigners is born in Malawi you should take the town or district in which the mother was resident at the time of the birth as the place of birth.
- 47. For persons born in Malawi, you are required to find out the name of the TA (Chief), STA (Sub Chief) or Town of birth within the District of birth which has been reported. For persons born outside Malawi, you should ask only for the country in which they were born.

RESIDENCE IN SEPTEMBER, 1986

48. This question refers to place of usual residence of each person aged 1 year or more in September, 1986. For persons who were resident in Malawi in September, 1986 you are required to find out the name of the District, TA (Chief), STA (Sub Chief), Village/Place or Town. For those who were resident outside

Malawi in September, 1986 you should ask only for the name of the country where they were resident.

LITERACY

49. The information required here is whether a person is able to read and write a simple statement in Chichewa and/or English. This question should be asked to persons who are aged 5 years or more.

EDUCATION

IN SCHOOL JUNE, 1987

- 50. This question collects information on whether the household member aged 5 years or more was attending school in a formal education institution in June, 1987. These institutions are primary schools, secondary schools, Malawi College of Distance Education centres and universities.
- 51. This question does not include those taking further training as teachers, agriculturalists, or taking short courses in commerce or technical subjects or attending Adult Literacy schools. Note that private night schools or private correspondence studies should not be taken as Malawi College of Distance Education night schools or Malawi College of Distance Education centres which offer full-time instructions.

HIGHEST LEVEL ATTENDED AT PRIMARY OR SECONDARY SCHOOL OR UNIVERSITY

- 52. This question refers to every person aged 5 years or more irrespective of whether or not they were attending school in June, 1987. The purpose of the question is to find the highest level attended by each person. NOTE that we are asking for the highest level ATTENDED irrespective of whether or not he or she has actually written or passed any examination at that level.
- 53. In the case of primary and secondary achooling you have to write in the highest class or form attended. Most people who left school before 1966 will tend to give the names of the classes used when they were at school and which may no longer be used. In this case, before you enter the number of the highest class reached you must ask for the year in which they left achool to enable you convert their answer to the modern class names through the use of an "Educational Conversion Chart" which is on page 23 of this manual. For instance, Sub A and Sub B are to be recorded as Standards 1 and 2; old standard 5 as standard 7; old standard 8 as Form 2 respectively etc.. You should always check whether a person is giving old class names or the new class names before making an entry in the questionnaire. You are not required to write in the word "Standard" or "Form". You should only enter the letters "S" for Standard or "F" for Form and the Arabic number such as 1, 2, 3, 4, etc..
- 54. Some people may not remember the highest class or standard they reached, and others may have been educated in another country where different names are given to classes. In such cases you should ask how many years they spent at school and enter the appropriate standard from your chart. Bear in mind

that pupils sometimes repeat classes and where appropriate you should ask a question about this. In particular you must not assume that because a person spent more than eight years at school then it means he attended a secondary school. You will only record him as attending a secondary school if he confirms that he actually did so.

MARITAL STATUS

55. Ask each person aged 10 years or more whether he or she has ever been married. If 'Yes' find out if he or she is currently married, divorced or widowed; if 'No', you will record the marital status of the person as never married. Altenatively you may ask a question 'are you married in this case it is necessary to ensure that the answer given by respondents to your questions on this topic is precise. For instance when a person says I am not married "sindili pa banja or sindinakwatiwe" you may not be able to know whether she is a divorcee or has never married at all unless you probe further.

ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

56. ACTIVITY STATUS: It refers to the main economic activity which a person has been engaged in during the last seven days. Activity status is categorised into several groups as follows:

ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE

- 57. MLIMI (SUBSISTENCE FARMER): Is a person whose sole or principal work is in the family garden. Women will be classified as Mlimi if over the year they have spent more time working in the garden than working without pay on domestic duties in the home. If the person who would otherwise qualify as a "mlimi" had a job for pay "last seven days" then he or she should be treated as an employee. If he or she did not actually do any work in the garden and was not employed during the "last seven days" they should be recorded as "mlimi" (that is, as though they were on holiday with a job to go back to).
- 58. AN EMPLOYEE: Is a person who works for a public or private employer and receives a wage, salary or payment at piece-rates.
- 59. FAMILY BUSINESS WORKER: Is a person who works without pay in a business owned by a relative on more or less full time basis and is not engaged in any other economic activity.
- 60. SELF EMPLOYED: Is a person who operates his or her own business or other economic enterprise, or engages independently in a profession or trade and does not hire any employees but may be assisted by family members.
- 61. EMPLOYER: Is a person who operates his or her own business or other economic enterprise or engages independently in a profession or trade and employs one or more persons. (Note: this does not include managers or others who hire staff on behalf of their company unless they own the company).



- 62. Note that a person who had a job or enterprise but who was temporarily absent during the reference period due to injury, illness, leave or other vacation should be classified according to his job or enterprise as an employee, a family business worker, self-employed or an employer.
- 63. UNEMPLOYED PERSON: Is one who did not work "last seven days", did not have a job or business, but was available for or seeking work. Such persons may fall into one of the following categories:
 - (i) Worked before and seeking work;
 - (ii) Worked before and not seeking work;
 - (iii) Never worked before and seeking work;
 - (iv) Never worked before and not seeking work.

ECONOMICALLY INACTIVE

- 64. HOMEWORKER: Is one who spends most of his or her time, throughout the year, working without pay on domestic duties, such as cooking, washing or cleaning household surroundings.
- 65. STUDENT: Is one who is under full-time instruction at a formal educational institution as long as he did not work during the last seven days.
- 66. DEPENDENT: Any person who did not work during the last seven days because either he was not able to work and relies on others, or there was no need for him to work and relies on others.
- 67. INDEPENDENT: Any person who did not work during the last seven days because there was no need and relies on his or her own income, for example, pensioneers.
- 68. It may be necessary to ask several probing questions in order to determine a person's activity status. The sequence of questions given below is designed to enable you to determine the activity status of every person aged 10 years or more. Follow the sequence through, asking the question or jumping to another numbered question box in accordance with answers given by the respondent until you reach the appropriate category as shown at the right hand side of the table.

ACTIVITY STATUS QUESTION SEQUENCE

Reco	rd as
(1) Check: Did you work during last seven days? (a) Yes: Where did you work? (i) Own family garden Male M Female (go to 5) (ii) Other:(go to 2)	LIMI*
(b) No:(go to 4)	
(b) for yourself? Do you (i) employ others in your business (for wages)?	LOYEE+ LOYER+
(ii) work on your own(or with only unpaid family workers to help you)? SELF EMP	LOYED+
(c) As a worker in the family business: Do you receive regular cash wage?	
	LOYEE+
(ii) No:(go to 3)	
(4) Check: What did you do most of last seven days? (a) domestic duties: (go to 5) (b) Nothing: Why not? (i) No work needed in garden Male:	MLIMI*
Female:(go to 5)	
(ii) No need, private income	
(e.g. pension) INDEPEND (iii) No need or not able (rely on other) DEPEND)ENT ++
\cdot)ENT ++
(v) On leave from work: (go to 6)	
(vi) No work available(go to 7)	
(5) Check: Over the year do you spend more of your time working: (a) in the garden? (b) on domestic duties HOMEWOR	MLIMI* KER ++
(6) Check: Are you on leave with pay? (a) Yes: (go to 2) (b) No: do you have a job to go back to? (i) Yes:(go to 2) (ii) No: (go to 7)	
(7) Check: Have you ever worked? (a) Yes: Did you look for work last seven days? (i) Yes UNEMPLOYED	(Ia) +
(ii) No UNEMPLOYED	(1b) +
(b) No: Did you look for work last seven days? (i) Yes UNEMPLOYED ((ii) No UNEMPLOYED (

^{*}Record occupation as "Farmer" and industry as "Agriculture".

⁺Ask questions to determine the occupation and industry.

⁺⁺Record "NA" under occupation and industry.

- OCCUPATION & Grasent 69. The basis of the classification of occupation is the trade, profession or type of work performed by an individual during the last seven days. The question on occupation should be asked to any persons who are economically active including those unemployed but have worked before.
- 70. As an example, the occupation of a driver of a bus is "bus driver", even if he owns the bus and operates it as a one-man business (that is, he is self-employed). The person's occupation is generally related to his training or experience although this may not always be the case. For example, if the bus driver has lost his job and taken a temporary post on a farm as a labourer then his occupation is now "farm labourer" and not "bus driver". Avoid using general terms but record the exact job which the person does, for example , do not simply write "driver", or "labourer" but "bus driver" or "farm labourer".

INDUSTRY

- 71. The classification of a person's industry is based on the nature of the product or service provided by the organization for which he/she works. For example, those persons, who work in a bakery are in the "food manufacturing" industry whether their occupation is that of manager, cook or night-watchman. In the case of people who provide a service, for example, a dentist or barber, you should give details of their industry or describe their type of work place (that is "dental clinic" or "barber's shop"). In the particular case of a dentist or a barber these details are obvious but in the case for example, of persons working in these places as "cleaners" it is clearly not sufficient to write merely "health" or "shop". Note that you should not give the name of a person's employers to describe their industry. However, in the case of Government employees you should give the full name of the Department/Unit, for example, Figheries, National Statistical Office, Post Office Savings Bank and not merely the name of the Ministry, e.g. Agriculture, Forestry and Natural Resources, Office of the President and Cabinet and Transport and Communications.
- 72. If in doubt always give sufficient detail. A guide for classification of activities in different industrial groups is given in Annex pages 37 - 39. This annex however does not include the names of different government departments which you are required to write in case of government employees.
- 73. Other exemples of occupation and industry would be:
- (a) A man may be a driver on a farm in which case his occupation is driver; and his industry is agriculture. Another men may be a driver in a factory in which case his occupation is driver and his industry will be the industry in which the factory is engaged e.g. if making cuchhes-clothing industry. Similarly, a driver mey work for U.T.M. in which case his industry is transportation.

- (b) Similarly it is possible to have people who do the same kind of work in one organization and yet may be in different industries, examples of which would be a clerk working for ADMARC which has different industries, e.g. Agriculture, Trade and Transportation. In such cases you will have to ask in which section or department of the organization the person works. Where you have doubt as to the proper industry of a person treat the main activity of the organization as his industry.
- (c) On the other hand, some people working in different organisations may either belong to similar or different occupations but to the same industry group. Examples of such cases are as follows: a civil servant working as an accounts clerk in the Department of Personnel Management and Training, his occupation will be accounts clerk while his industry group will be public administration and defence. One who is working as a security guard in the same department his occupation will be protective worker and his industry group will be public administration and defence. A policeman working as a driver will have his occupation recorded as driver and the industry group as public administration and defence. However, the occupation of an ordinary policeman who does not have other specialised duties other than security would be recorded as protective worker. Similarly, in the case of Army personnel, an officer working as a mechanic will have mechanic as his occupation and public administration and defence as his industry group. A private soldier working in the infantry as a riffleman will have his. occupation recorded as protective worker while his industry will still be public administration and defence.

NUMBER OF CHILDREN EVER BORN ALIVE

- 74. You are required to collect information on the number of children ever born alive to women aged 10 years or more. A live born child may be defined as the one who after separation from its mother breathes, cries or shows any other evidence of life such as beating of the heart, pulsation of the umblical cord, or definite movement of voluntary muscles.
- 75. Do not use a question such as "Mwachembela kangati" which would generally induce a woman to tell you the number of times she had delivered. But you are required to find information on the number of children who were actually born and who at birth were alive. Even if a child died later as long as it was live at birth, such a child must be counted. On the other hand a child who was born dead should not be counted.
- 76. On the question of the number of children ever born alive to a woman, ensure that all the children a woman gave birth to are counted. You should not include those children who are staying with the woman but not borne by her, for example a woman may have been married to three husbands and is now living with the third husband. She had one child with the first husband and this one child is currently living with his father; and had three children with the second husband and of these three children only one is staying with her and the other two are either with their father or grandparents; and there is the last born from the present husband plus two other children borne by

the previous wives of the present husband. So that this woman has only two of all her children staying with her and two from other wives of the present husband. The total number of children ever born alive to this woman should be recorded as 5, number of children ever born alive and living in this household should be recorded as 2, number of children ever born alive and living elsewhere should be recorded as 3, and number of children ever born alive but have since died should be recorded as zero.

DEATHS OCCURRED IN THE HOUSEHOLD SINCE SEPTEMBER, 1986

77. You should obtain information of all deaths that occurred in the household from September, 1986 to date. Make sure to include deaths of persons of all ages that occurred in the household during the period from September, 1986 to the date of your visit.

For Probing, you should proceed month by month in the backward direction, and enquire whether there was any death of a person related or unrelated who lived in any dwelling unit belonging to the household during the period specified above.

For recording, you should include the following categories of deaths:

- (e) Deaths of household members occurring in dwelling units belonging to the household.
- (b) Deaths of household members occurring in the hospital/clinic, or on the way to a hospital/clinic, or as a result of an accident. Make sure that the deceased lived in the dwelling unit belonging to the household immediately prior to his death.

HOUSEHOLD ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES

- 78. This part deals with the economic activities of each and every household. These activities are business or cash crop farming which generate income for the household. Such businesses or cash crop farming could be owned by one or more members of the household and could be run by household members and/or by hired labour. These need not be physically located within the premises of the household. Examples of such activities include cash-crop farming, livestock, handicraft, beer brewing and tailoring, among others which are conducted solely on a commercial basis. Cash crop farming refers to the growing of crops mainly for sale by household members. Examples of cash crops include tea, tobacco, cotton, coffee, sugarcane, maize and groundnuts (if grown solely for sale).
- 79. For each household activity you are required to ask for each activity the specific months begining September, 1986 to August, 1987 in which the activity was carried out. You should then count and record the number of months in which each activity was carried out. Furthermore you are required to ask for the number of household members and regular hired labourers who were engaged in each activity as well as indicating whether or not any casual labourers were employed.

80. HIRED LABOUR: These are persons who were hired or employed to work in the activity reported for payment in cash or kind. Hired labour is in two categories: regular and casual and these are explained below:

REGULAR LABOUR: This is hired labour which had worked on a more or less permanent basis.

CASUAL LABOUR: These are persons who were temporarily hired to help in the activity and they are locally known as "Aganyu". These persons are mostly hired during periods when the activity is at a peak and extra hands are required, for example in farming during garden preparation or weeding.

SECTION III

HOW TO COMPLETE THE QUESTIONNAIRE FORMS

You should record information only when you are convinced that the reported information is accurate and true to the best knowledge of the respondent. Do not leave blank any space provided for recording responses. Do not suggest or assume answers under any circumstances. Always do sufficient probing when necessary before recording the answer.

The following pages give detailed instructions regarding the manner in which entries are to be made in each column of the questionnaire form. When completing the questionnaire you must be NEAT, CLEAR and ACCURATE. After completing each questionnaire form you must always check your entries and ensure that all the applicable questions have been answered.

ERASURES: Do not erase (rub) any erroneous entry you have made on the questionnaire form. Instead you should cancel out the error by drawing a double line across it and then record the correct entry in the box beside the entry. If the space for such an entry is too small, cancel the whole line and write again on the next line. Do not remove any questionnaire forms from the pad. If you have spoilt the whole questionnaire form draw double lines right across it, write "VOID" between the two lines and start again on a fresh questionnaire form.

There are three different types of questionnaires which you will be required to complete, namely:

- (i) HOUSEHOLD QUESTIONNAIRE which collects information on characteristics of individual household members, deaths occurred in the household, household economic activities and dwelling unit characteristics and access to facilities.
- (ii) RECORD OF VACANT AND OTHER STRUCTURES which collects information on main use of the structures and materials used for construction.
- (iii) RECORD OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES which collects information on the availability of community facilities such as primary schools, primary health care centres, post offices, etc.

COMPLETION OF THE HOUSEHOLD QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

PART A: IDENTIFICATION

REGION/DISTRICT: Write the name of the district in which your enumeration area (EA) falls in the space provided and leave columns 1-2 blank.

TA, STA or TOWN: If you are enumerating in a rural area write the name of the TA (Chief) or STA (Sub Chief) in which your EA falls in the space provided. Similary if you are enumerating in a city or town write the name of the city or town in which your EA falls. Leave columns 3-4 blank.

ENUMERATION AREA: Record the number of your enumeration area in columns 5-7.

VILLAGE or PLACE: Write down the name by which the village or place is commonly known to the people of that area in the space provided. Leave columns 8-9 blank.

HOUSEHOLD NUMBER: Record the number you have assigned to this household in columns 10-12. Make sure you mark this number on the dwelling units occupied by members of the household.

REMEMBER that if you enumerate in market places, hospitals, achools or other institutions which are not occupied on household basis, you should treat the whole institution as one unit and record "999" in columns 10-12.

NUMBER OF DWELLING UNITS (DUa) TO HOUSEHOLD: Fill in the total number of DUa for the household in column 13.

PART B: CHARACTERISTICS OF INDIVIDUAL HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS

PERSONS OF ALL AGES

- (a) DWELLING UNIT NUMBER (DU NO.): You should enter the DU number in which the particular member of the household belongs in column 14. Always start with the DU of the head of household and proceed to second, third, etc., DU.
- (b) SERIAL NUMBER (SER. NO.) Each questionnaire form has been designed to take information for up to 10 members of the household. Within each household you are enumerating you should assign a two digit serial number in columns 15-16 to each member of the household starting from O1. In case you are enumerating a household with more than 10 members, you should use a second questionnaire form for enumerating 11, 12, 13, etc., members. If necessary you can go to the third questionnaire in the same manner.

CONTINUATION INDICATOR: Where you use more than one quetionnaire form for the same household you should number the

form 1, 2, 3, etc., in the box on the top right hand side of the questionnaire form. In all cases except for the last form mark an X at the left hand side of the continuation indicator panel where the arrow is pointing to indicate that you are continuing to another questionnaire form for the same household.

(c) FULL NAME: Write down the full names of all household members including those of babies and visitors who spent the night in DUs belonging to the household. If a baby has no name write 'baby' followed by name of one of the parents. Accept two names for each person by which he/she is locally known. Write the first name in the space above the dotted line and the second below it. In cases where a household has more than one DU, you should always start by listing names of all household members who spent the night in dwelling unit occupied by head of household (that is, DU No. PHC .../1). For the first DU, the name of head of household should always be the first one to be listed, followed by that of wife/husband, then children according to age from the eldest to the youngest, other relatives and lastly non-relatives.

(d) RELATIONSHIP TO HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD: Ask for the relationship of each member to the head of the household and fill in the appropriate code in column 17.

The various codes for you to use, as indicated on the questionnaire, are as follows:

Head = 1
Wife/Husband = 2
Son/Daughter = 3
Other relative = 4
Non-relative = 5

(e) SEX: Ask the question 'male or female' for every person particularly babies and children unless you can see for yourself whether the person is male or female. Fill in the appropriate code for sex for each member of the household in column 18. The relevant codes are:

Male, M = 1 Female, F = 2

- (f) AGE: Write down the age in years completed of each member of the household in two digits in columns 19-20.
- (g) RACE: Fill in the appropriate code for race for each respondent in column 21. The codes are

African = 1 Asian = 2 European = 3 Other = 4

MIGRATION

- (h) PLACE OF BIRTH: Ask each member of the household his or her place of birth. The place of birth should be recorded following the instructions below:
 - (i) If the respondent was born in the village or place in which you are enumerating, simply write 'Same Village' or 'Same Place'.
 - (ii) If the respondent was born in a village or place different from the one you are enumerating but in the same TA, STA or Town simply write 'Same TA', 'Same STA' or 'Same Town'.
 - (iii) For those not born in the same TA, STA or Town, write down the names of the District of birth above the dotted line and the name of the TA, STA or Town below it.
 - (iv) If born outside Malawi, write only the country of birth.

Write the place of birth for each person in the appropriate space provided and leave columns 22-25 blank.

PERSONS AGED 1 YEAR OR MORE

Question (i) is applicable only to persons aged 1 year or more.

- (i) RESIDENCE IN SEPTEMBER, 1986: Ask each member of the household aged 1 year or more where he/she was residing during the month of September, 1986. When recording the answers follow the instructions below.
 - (i) If in September, 1986 the respondent was residing in the village or place in which you are enumerating, simply write 'Same Village' or 'Same Place'.
 - (ii) If in September, 1986 the respondent was residing in a village or place different from the one you are enumerating but in the same TA, STA or Town simply write 'Same TA,' 'Same STA' or 'Same Town'.
- (iii) For those who in September, 1986 were not resident in the same TA, STA or Town, in which your EA falls write down the names of the District of residence in September, 1986 above the dotted line and the name of the TA, STA or Town below it.
 - (iv) For those who in September, 1986 were residing outside Malawi, write only the country of residence in September, 1986.

Leave columns 26-29 blank.

PERSONS AGED 5 YEARS OR MORE

Questions (j) and (k) on Literacy and Education apply only to persons aged 5 years or more. NEVER ask any of these questions to persons aged under 5 years.

(1) LITERACY

ABLE TO READ AND WRITE CHICHEWA: Ask whether each person is able to read and write a simple statement in Chichewa. Record the appropriate code for the response (yes or no) in column 30. The codes are:

Yes = 1 No = 2

ABLE TO READ AND WRITE ENGLISH: Ask whether each person is able to read and write a simple statement in English and similarly record the appropriate code in column 31. The codes are:

Yes = 1 No = 2

(k) EDUCATION

IN SCHOOL JUNE, 1987: For each person ask whether he/she was attending any formal educational institution (school/university) in June, 1987. Record the appropriate code in column 32. The codes are:

Yes = 1 No = 2

HIGHEST LEVEL ATTENDED: Write the highest level of education attended by each person in a formal educational institution in the appropriate space provided before columns 33-34 using the following abbreviations:

No education	NO
Standard 1	S1
Standard 2	S 2
Standard 3	S 3
Standard 4	S4
Standard 5	S 5
Standard 6	S 6
Standard 7	S7
Standard 8	S8
Form 1	F1
Form 2	F2
Form 3	FЗ
Form 4	F4
Form 5	F5
Form 6	F6

University	ist	Year	U1
University	2nd	Year	Ua
University	3rd	Year	U3
University	4th	Year	U4
University	5th	Year	U5
University	6th	Year	Ué
Diplomate			D
Graduate			G

Leave columns 33-34 blank for office use.

For those who report to have attended up to primary school any time before 1962 or up to secondary school before 1966. You should use the Education Conversation Chart below to convert their responses to conform to the present class levels as given in the column for 1966-87.

EDUCATION CONVERSION CHART

HIGHEST LEVEL OF SCHOOL ATTENDED

	UP	TO 1 96 1	19	51-196	3	1964-19	-	PRESEI CLASS LI 1966-1	EVEL			Examination Level
PRIHARY SCHOOL	3 8						1			ļ		
	Class	Sub-A*	Sŧ	andard	1	Standard	11	Standard	1	1	1	
	Class	Sub-8∗		報	2	n	21	п	2	Í	2	
	Standa	rd 1(1)		£	3	ŭ	31	Ħ	3	1	3	
	6	2(11)		ti	4	a	41	н	4	į	4	
	67	3(111)		H	5	Ħ	51	ä	5	l	5	
	Ħ	4(IV)		Ü	6	i\$	61	11	6	1	6	
	11	5(V)		83	7	59	71	12	7	1	7	
	ti .	6(YI)		ä	8	11	ļ	ii .	8	i	8 !	Primary Certificate,
							ı			!		
SELIDADARY SCHO	CL:						į			ţ		
	Standar	rd 7(Form	1)	Fore	1	Form	11			į		
						ä	21	Form	1	4	9	
	甜	8(Form	5)	ı	II	il	31	a a	2	Ì	10 .	Junior Certificate
	ti	9(Fora	3)	в	III	n	41	18	3	ì	11	
	#	10 (Form	4)	æ	IV	a	51	н	4	3	12 5	School Certificate, o
							į			ì		6. C. E. "0" Level
	п	11(Fore	6				ŝ			į		
		Lower)		2 V	I (Lo ne	r) a	61	ä	5	1	13	
	18	12 (Form	6				\$ 2			į		
		Upper)		# ¥	I (Uppe	e (ry	71	ü	5	Î	14	Higher School
							1			į	?	Certificat e or
										:	Ş	S.C.E. "A" Level

PERSONS AGED 10 YEARS OR MORE

Questions from (1) through (q) should only be asked to persons who are aged 10 years or more.

(1) MARITAL STATUS: Ask each person aged 10 years or more her current marital status. Enter the appropriate code for the response in column 35. The codes are as follows:

Married = 1
Widowed = 2
Divorced = 3
Never Married = 4

ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

(m) ACTIVITY STATUS (during last seven days): For each person aged 10 years or more ask his/her main economic activity in which they have been engaged during the last seven days. Refer to the guide provided on page 13 of the manual on how to determine activity status of every person aged 10 years or more. Write the activity in which the person has been engaged in during the last seven days in the appropriate space provided and leave columns 36-37 blank. The relevant activity status options for you to use which are listed on the questionnaire under the major categories of 'Active', 'Unemployed' and 'Inactive' are as follows:

ACTIVE:

Mlimi
Employee
Family business worker
Self Employed
Employer

UNEMPLOYED:

- 1. Worked before:
 - (a) Seeking work: 1A
 - (b) Not seeking work: 1B
- 2. Never worked:
 - (a) Seeking work: 2A
 - (b) Not seeking work: 2B

INACTIVE:

Home worker Student Dependent Independent Other

For those persons who fall under the category 'UNEMPLOYED' You should write the codes 1A, 1B, 2A or 2B, which ever is applicable, to present the corresponding response in view of the limited space on the questionnaire.

NOTE: Proceed to ask questions on occupation and industry for those you categorise to be 'ACTIVE' or 'UNEMPLOYED but worked before'. Do not ask the questions on occupation and industry for those who are 'UNEMPLOYED and never worked before' and the 'INACTIVE'.

- (n) OCCUPATION: Write the exact occupation for the person who is either active or unemployed but worked before in the space provided. For persons who are either 'UNEMPLOYED but never worked before' or 'INACTIVE', you should write N/A (Not Applicable). You should leave columns 38-39 blank.
- (o) INDUSTRY: Write the actual industry in which each person is or was working and columns 40-41 should be left blank. Use the International Standard Industrial Classification (ISIC) provided on pages 37 39 as a guide.

Remember that the question on industry applies only to those who are 'ACTIVE' or 'UNEMPLOYED but worked before' and should have reported an occupation. Write N/A (Not Applicable) for all those to whom the question on industry does not apply, ie. those 'UNEMPLOYED but never worked before' and those INACTIVE.

WOMEN AGED 10 YEARS OR MORE

Question (p) and (q) should only be asked to women aged 10 years or more.

(p) TOTAL CHILDREN EVER BORN ALIVE: Ask each woman aged 10 years or more for the total number of children she has ever borne alive and record the number in 2 digits in columns 42-43.

NUMBER OF CHILDREN EVER BORN ALIVE:

- (i) LIVING IN THIS HOUSEHOLD: Ask each woman aged 10 years or more the number of children ever born alive to her who are currently living in the same household. Record the number of male children and female children in columns 44-45 and columns 46-47, respectively.
- (ii) LIVING ELSEWHERE: Ask each woman aged 10 years or more the number of children ever born alive to her who are living elsewhere that is away from the household the woman is living in. Record the number of male children in column 48 and female children in column 49, accordingly.

Remember that all children, young or grown up, who are living on their own or with relatives whether within or outside the same village or place but away from the household the woman is living in are to be recorded in this category. Emphasise to the woman that you want to know the number of all her children who were born alive irrespective of their ages and where they are living.

(iii) HAVE SINCE DIED: Ask the woman the total number of children she has ever borne alive, but have since died. Record the number of male and female children who have died in column 50 and column 51, respectively.

While probing for this information make sure that the woman does not exclude any of her children who might have died shortly after birth as long as they were born alive. Furthermore any of her children who might have to at any other age are to be recorded. Yours are the still births, that is, the births which did not a second of the local act included.

- (q) LIVE BIRTHS OCCURRED FROM SEPTEMBER, 1986 TO DATE
- (i) STILL ALIVE: ask the woman the number of male and female live births she has had during the period from September 1986 to date and are still alive. Record the number of males births in column 52 and female births in column 53.
- (ii) HAVE DIED: Ask the woman the number of male and female live births she has had during the period from September, 1986 to date but have since died. Record the number of such male and female births in column 54 and 55, respectively.

NOTE: You should make sure that you do not leave any columns from 42 to 55 blank for any woman aged 10 years or more. For instance where a woman has reported to have no children ever born alive under any specific column in question (p) or no live births under any specific column in question (q), you should record zero(s) and not leave the columns blank.

PART C: SUMMARY OF PERSONS IN THIS HOUSEHOLD

In this part of the questionnaire you are required to prepare a summary of total number of persons in the household as listed in Part B of the questionnaire by sex, age and highest level of education attended in broad groups. You should prepare the summary very carefully to ensure that the figures you record under sex, age, and education are consistent with the information you recorded in Part B. The summary you prepare in Part C will also assist you in completing Form PHC/87/4. The details of the summary are as follows:-

(i) SEX:

Total: Total persons listed in Part B; M (Males): Number of males; F (Females): Number of females.

(ii) AGE (years):

O-4: Number of persons aged O to 4 years; 5-14: Number of persons aged 5 to 14 years; 15-64: Number of persons aged 15 to 64 years; 65+: Number of persons aged 65 years and over.

(111) HIGHEST LEVEL OF EDUCATION ATTENDED:

None: Number of persons aged 5 years or more who have never attended school;

Primary: Number of persons aged 5 years or more who have attended up to primary school level;

Secondary and above: Number of persons aged 5 years or more who have attended up to secondary school or university level.

PART D: DEATHS IN THE HOUSEHOLD

ALL DEATHS OCCURRED IN THE HOUSEHOLD FROM SEPTEMBER, 1986 TO DATE

SEX OF THE DECEASED: Ask the respondent the number of deaths if any which might have occurred in the household from September, 1986 to date. Remember that this should include deaths of all persons irrespective of age. Fill in column 56 the appropriate code for sex of the deceased for each death reported. The codes are:

Male, M = 1Female, F = 2

AGE AT DEATH: Ask for the age at death of the deceased person and record the age in years completed in two digits in columns 57-58. If the respondent cannot remember the exact age at death of the deceased try to probe for a reasonable estimate of the age which you should record.

IF NO DEATHS, ENTER O: If no deaths occurred in the household from September, 1986 to date, you should enter 'O' in the box indicated by the arrow. In this case you should avoid leaving this box blank.

PART E: HOUSEHOLD ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES

TYPE OF BUSINESS/CASH CROP FARMING: Ask the respondent what economic activities have been carried out by members of the household during the last 12 months, that is from September, 1986 to August, 1987. Each economic activity reported should be listed in a separate row. Leave columns 59-60 blank.

WHETHER ACTIVITY CARRIED OUT DURING THE MONTH: Ask whether the particular activity was carried out during each of the specified months that is from September, 1986 to August, 1987. Each of the columns is headed by the first letter of the name of the month; that is, 'S' for September, "O" for October, "N" for November, etc.. If the activity was carried out during any of the specified months enter 1 (for Yes) in the appropriate box, if the activity was not carried out during any of the months enter 2 (for No).

TOTAL MONTHS OF ACTIVITY: For each reported activity count the number of months in which each activity was carried out and enter the total in the appropriate row for the activity in columns 73-74.

PERSONS WORKING

HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS: For each reported activity ask for the number of household members who were engaged in that particular activity and record the number in columns 75-76.

HIRED LABOUR

REGULAR: For each reported activity ask for the number of workers who were hired to work on a regular basis, that is, they had worked on more or less permanent basis, and record the number in columns 77-78.

CASUAL: Ask the respondent if any casual workers (Aganyu) were employed in each of the reported activity. Record the appropriate code, "1" for Yes and "2" for No in column 79.

If NO BUSINESS ENTER O: If the household has not reported any economic activity that is no business or cash crop farming enter O in the box indicated by the arrow. In this case you should not leave this box blank.

PART F: DWELLING UNIT CHARACTERISTICS AND ACCESS TO FACILITIES

This part has been designed to take information on dwelling unit characteristics and access to facilities for up to five dwelling units of a household. You are required to record the necessary particulars of each dwelling unit in a separate row starting with dwelling unit with serial number 1.

DWELLING UNIT SERIAL NUMBER: For each dwelling unit enter the dwelling unit serial number in column 80 as 1, 2 or 3, etc. This serial number should be the same as that you have recorded in column 14 of Part B for that particular dwelling unit.

MAIN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED FOR:

(i) WALL: If it is not readily apparent from the outside ask what main construction material was used for the wall. The alternative types of wall materials are pre-coded and listed as follows:

Burnt bricks = 1
Unburnt bricks = 2
Concrete = 3
Mud and wattle = 4
Reeds/straw = 5
Wood/planks = 6
Other (specify) = 7

Fill in the appropriate code corresponding to the main construction material of wall for the dwelling unit you are enumerating in column 81.

In the case of code 7 (Other) you are required to apecify the material of construction in a suitable space outside Part F block.

(ii) ROOF: Fill in column 82 the appropriate code for the main construction material used for roofing of the dwelling unit you are enumerating in column 82. The codes are given as follows:

Grass thatch = 1
Iron sheets = 2
Iron and tiles = 3
Asbestos = 4
Cement = 5
Other (Specify) = 6

You will, in most cases, be able to identify the main roofing material used, but in case of doubt you need to check with the respondent. You are also required to specify the type of material used for roofing in case of code 6 (Other).

(iii) FLOOR: Ask the respondent what was the main construction material used for the floor and fill in the appropriate code in column 83. The codes are listed as follows:

Mud = 1 Cement = 2 Bricks = 3 Wood = 4 Other(apecify) = 5

You should note that floor coverings, such as tiles, should not be considered as main construction materials for the floor.

NUMBER OF ROOMS: Ask the respondent how many rooms there are in the dwelling unit and record the total number in column 84. The number of rooms should include sitting rooms, dining rooms, bedrooms and a kitchen as long as it is part of the main structure. You should, however, not count bathrooms, toilets, store-rooms, and garages as rooms of the dwelling unit, if inside the structure.

TENURE: Ask the respondent whether the dwelling unit is being occupied by the individual/family who own it or whether it is being rented or is of other tenancy status. The appropriate codes for tenancy status are:

Owner/Family Occupied = 1 Rented = 2 Other (specify) = 3

Enter the appropriate code for the response in column 85. Remember to specify the tenancy status in the case of code 3 (Other).

MAIN SOURCE OF DRINKING WATER: Here you must find out from the respondent what the main source of drinking water is for the members of the dwelling unit. This should first be asked and recorded for the wet season and then similarly for the dry season. The alternative sources of drinking water and their appropriate codes are as follows:

Piped inside DU = 1
Piped outside DU = 2
Communal stand pipe = 3
Borehole = 4
Well = 5
Spring = 6
Stream/River = 7
Lake/Dam = 8

Fill in the appropriate code for the main source of drinking water during the wet season in column 86 and that for the dry season in column 87. Never leave any of these spaces blank even if the codes for wet and dry season are the same.

TOILET: Ask the respondent the type of toilet facility available to members of the dwelling unit and record the appropriate code in column 88. The various types of toilet facilities and their appropriate codes are as follows:

- Flush toilet, exclusive = 1 if the dwelling unit has a flush toilet which is exclusively used by members of that dwelling unit or members of other dwelling units belonging to the same household.
- Flush toilet, shared = 2 if the dwelling unit has a flush toilet which is shared between members of that dwelling unit and members of other dwelling unit(a) belonging to another household.

 Note that the dwelling units sharing the toilet should have equal rights to the use of the facility.
- Pit latrine, exclusive = 3 if the dwelling unit has a pit latrine which is exclusively used by members of that dwelling unit or members of other dwelling units belonging to the same household.
- Pit latrine, shared = 4 if the housing unit has a pit latrine which is shared between members of that dwelling unit and members of other dwelling unit(s) belonging to another household who have equal rights to use the facility.
- Bucket = 5 if the dwelling unit uses a bucket as a toilet facility.

None

= 6 if the dwelling unit has no toilet facility of its own and has no explicit right to share an existing toilet facility with members of another dwelling unit.

WHETHER THERE IS A RADIO IN WORKING CONDITION IN DU: For each dwelling unit ask the respondent whether there is a radio in working condition in that dwelling unit.

Record the reply in column 89. The response codes are:

Yes = 1 No = 2

NOTE: A radio in working condition is the one which is in good order at the time of the interview and good enough to catch Malawi Broadcasting Corporation (MBC) programmes.

NUMBER OF CYCLES/VEHICLES IN WORKING CONDITION BELONGING TO PERSON(S) IN DU: For each dwelling unit of the household, you should ask (one at a time) the number of bicycles, motor cycles, motor vehicles or ox-carts there are belonging to the person(s) in the dwelling unit. Enter the number of bicycles in column 90, Motor Cycles in column 91, Motor Vehicles in column 92 and Ox-carts in column 93.

PART G:

Write your name and date of enumeration in the columns headed 'NAME' and 'DATE' after the word ENUMERATOR. Leave the other spaces blank.

SECTION IV

COMPLETION OF RECORD OF VACANT AND OTHER STRUCTURES FORM

In this Population and Housing Census it is necessary to cover all the structures, that is, all occupied dwelling units including those which are vacant and other structures used for other purposes other than dwelling. The occupied dwelling units have been covered in the household questionnaire. The record of vacant and other structures questionnaire form is therefore designed to collect information for all vacant and other structures regarding the main use of structure and the type of construction materials used for construction of wall, roof and floor.

The VACANT STRUCTURES are any buildings which are intended for sleeping but are not occupied during the period of enumeration. On the other hand the OTHER STRUCTURES are those buildings which are neither occupied nor vacant dwelling units and are used for other purposes other than dwelling. These include, office blocks, shops, churches, mosques, etc.. Note that shops with rooms at the top, back or sides where people sleep should be taken as dwelling units.

IDENTIFICATION: You should complete this part as in other questionnaire forms. The name of Region/District, TA, STA or Town and Enumeration Area number which you write should be the same as that you have written on the household questionnaire forms and on the front cover of the pad.

NAME OF VILLAGE OR PLACE: For each particular vacant or other atructure you list you should write the name of village or place in which the structure is located. Leave columns 8-9 blank.

STRUCTURE SERIAL NUMBER: Record the number you have assigned to the structure in columns 10-12. Note that whereas you will mark the vacant or other structures serially as V001, V002, V003, etc., on the actual structures, you will record the serial numbers as O01, O02, etc., on the questionnaire form.

MAIN USE OF STRUCTURE: Find out the main use of each vacant or other structure you have listed. Write the main use of the structure in the space provided and leave columns 13-14 blank.

You will write 'dwelling' if the atructure is mainly used or intended for dwelling purposes. If the structure is mainly used for economic activities such as carpentry, beer selling, selling food and bevarages, office work, etc., you are required to write the specific type of economic activity. On the other hand if the structure is used for other non-economic activities such as religious meetings, school, etc., specify the non economic activity.

MAIN CONTRUCTION MATERIALS USED FOR:

(1) WALL: Find out the main construction materials used for the wall and fill in the appropriate code in column 15. The altenative codes of type of materials used for construction for the wall are as follows:-

Burnt bricks = 1
Unburnt bricks = 2
Concrete = 3
Mud/Wattle = 4
Reeds/Straw = 5
Wood/Planks = 6
Other (Specify) = 7

In case of other materials other than those coded 1 to 6 you should specify.

(ii) ROOF: Fill in column 16 the appropriate code for the main construction materials used for roofing the structure. The codes are as follows:-

Grass thatch = 1
Iron sheets = 2
Iron and tiles = 3
Asbestos = 4
Cement = 5
Other (Specify) = 6

You should specify the material in case of code 6 (Other).

(iii) FLOOR: Find out the main construction material used for the floor and fill in the appropriate code in column 17. The codes are:-

> Mud = 1 Cement = 2 Bricka = 3 Wood = 4 Other(Specify) = 5

Note that floor coverings, such as tiles should not be considered as main contruction materials for the floor.

SECTION V

COMPLETION OF RECORD OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES FORM

The record of community facilities questionnaire form is for collecting information on the type and number of community facilities which are available in each and every village or place within the enumeration area your are working in. For every village or place in the EA find out how many of each specified facility are available. You should make sure that the facility is in the village or place you are and not in the next village. For example if two or more villages share a school which is in one of the villages you should enter this school in that particular village where it is located, and for the other(s) with no school you should enter 0.

The form has been designed to collect community facilities for up to 10 villages or places within an EA and one form should therefore be sufficient for your EA.

REGION/DISTRICT: Write the name of the district in which your EA falls in the space provided and leave columns 1-2 blank.

TA, STA, or TOWN: Write the name of TA, STA or Town where your EA is in the space provided and leave columns 3-4 blank.

ENUMERATION AREA: Write the EA number in which you are working in columns 5-7.

SERIAL NUMBER: Record the aerial number of each village or place for which you record the community facility in columns 8-9. The village or place which you have started with in your EA should be assigned serial number 01, the second 02, and so on.

NAME OF VILLAGE OR PLACE: Write the name of village or place for which you are reporting the community facilities in the space provided. Leave columns 10-11 blank.

TYPE OF FACILITY: There are 13 different facilities for which you are required to collect information. Enter the number of each apecified community facility available in the village or place in the relevant column for that type of facility. For example, if in a particular village there is a primary school, a dispensary and a market, you will record "1" in column 12, "1" in column 14 and "1" in column 22. You will record "0" in each of the remaining columns 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21 and 23 indicating, that the other specified facilities are not available in the village. If you come across any facility which is not among those listed you are required to enter the number of such facility in column 24 and specify what facility it is in the space provided below after REMARKS.

Once you move to the next village or place remember to also record the information on type of facilities available and physically located in that village or place.

COMPLETION OF DAILY RECORD OF ENUMERATION FORM (FORM PHC/87/4)

At the end of each days' work go through the questionnaire forms you have completed that day and complete the Daily Record of Enumeration, Form PHC/87/4, as follows:

- (a) Fill in the name of the District, TA, STA or Town and EA number in which you are enumerating. Note that you are required to summarise information contained in any one pad of questionnaire forms is summarised on one separate Daily Record of Enumeration form.
- (b) In completing the form write the date of enumeration, name of village or place and household number you have enumerated. Use Part C of the household questionnaire to complete the information on population by sex, sge and highest level of education attended.
- (c) For a call-back household, fill in the date of your first visit, name of village or place and household number. Leave the other columns blank until the call-back is completed.
- (d) When the form is completed (including all the call-backs) you should add up the totals for each household to get the total for the pad. Enter these totals in the space provided at the bottom of each column. The total should not be carried forward to another form.

SECTION VI

CHECKS AND COMPLETION

In order to ensure the amooth running of the Census during enumeration your Field Supervisor and other Senior Officers of the Census operation will visit you several times to check your work and assist in case you have any problems. At the times your Field Supervisor visits you, you should hand over to him the completed pads together with the appropriate summary sheets he wants to check. In case the Field Supervisor takes away any of the pads and/or summary sheets, you should obtain a receipt for the same. When the Field Supervisor returns the pads and/or summary sheets he will ask you to sign the receipt.

When you have completed the enumeration of your enumeration area area you will need to spend further time going round to check that you have not missed any dwelling unit. You should do this check in consultation with the village headman before you send a message to your Field Supervisor who will come to your area to examine your remaining questionnaire pads and discuss with you any point of doubt. When he has checked all your pads, and is satisfied that your area has been properly completed he will then sign the certificate on the front cover of the last questionnaire pad.

If you have knowledge of any village or part of a village or other area which, although not listed as being in your enumeration area, is within or close to your boundary and this area does not appear to have been enumerated by any other person YOU MUST DRAW THE ATTENTION OF YOUR FIELD SUPERVISOR TO THIS AREA.

The Field Supervisor may have some other work for enumerators to do, such as helping in areas where the enumeration has run into unexpected difficulties or helping to check pads from other EAs, and enumerators will be required to help with this work before they are discharged. The Field Supervisor will release the enumerator when he is satisfied with the enumerator's work, has signed the certificate on the final pad, and has no further work for the enumerator.

REMUNERATION

Because of the very large number of persons engaged on the census, it is not possible to pay a "wage" for the work performed by civil servants, and as this is part of the national effort the government knows you would not expect this. However, to cover any out-of-pocket expenses which you may incur by reason of your participation in the census, enumerators will receive an honorarium of K35 for the work performed, when it has been satisfactorily completed.

ANNEX

POPULATION CENSUS INDUSTRIAL CLASSIFICATION

·	Industry Group	1	Activities to be included
	griculture, Hunting, Forestry, and Fishing	•	
A	griculture	••	Agricultural and livestock production and agricultural services
H	lenting	••	Hunting, trapping and game propagation
	orestry and logging	••	Forestry and logging
F	ishing	••	
2. H	lining and Quarrying		
S	Zone quarrying, clay and sand	pits	
	alt mining	•	Salt pan operation
•	letal ore or other mining	••	Mining for precious stones
L N	lanufacturing		
F	ood manufacture		Bakeries, slaughterhouses, canning
_			factories, grain mills, sugar factories et
•	leverages industry	•• .	Manufacture of alcoholiic beverages vinegar and soft drinks.
T	obacco mapufactures	••	Cigarette factory (tobacco preparation e.g. grading, prior to auction to be shown in agricultural series)
Ħ	lanufacture of textiles	••	Spinning, weaving and manufacture of carpets, rope and other textiles
Ħ	lanufacture of mearing apparel footsmear	except	
Ħ	lanufacture of leather and leat	ther	
	products except footwear	••	Include manufacture of fur or leather substitutes (other than footnear
	lanufacture of footwear(except	footnear	
	from plastic or rubber)		
91	lamefacture of wood productsies	xcluding	.
	furniture)	••	Samills, manufacture of wood, came or cork products m.e.c
	immefacture of furniture and f	ivtores	cork broades were
•	except primarily of metal	IAPO ES	
1	unufacture of paper and paper	onderts	Manufacture of pulp and paper products
	rinting publishing and allied		remarkable of people and popular products
	boundacture of industrial chemi		Nasic industry chemicals, fertilizers, pesticides, plastic materials
M	lamefacture of paints, lacquers	s and	
	varnishes	••	
	banufacture of drugs and medici		
¥	lanufacture of soap and other t	toilet	
	preparations	••	Manufacture of perfumes, cosmetics and other toilet preparations

Manaufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of jewelly and related articles Manufacture of susical instruments Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electricity, Gas amd Water Electric light and power Electric light and supplies 5. Construction Construction Wholesale trade Retail trade Retail trade Restaurants Mestaurants Mestaurants Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services		Retreading of tyres an Manufacture of plastic		 e.c	Retreading of tyres Manufacture of plastic shoes, buckets, hosepipe, etc.			
Manufacture of glass and glass product Manufacture of cement, lime and plaster Iron and steel basic industries Non-ferrous metals basic industries Manufacture of metal products(except machinery and equipment) Manufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of jewelly and related articles Manufacture of musical instruments Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electricity, Gas and Water Electric light and power Electric light and power Electric light and power Water works and supplies Electric light and Restaurants Wholesale trade Retail trade Retail trade Retail trade Retail trade Restaurants Mholesale trade Restaurants Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services		Manufacture of pottery	. china and					
Manufacture of cement, lime and plaster. Iron and steel basic industries Non-ferrous metals basic industry Manufacture of metal products(except machinery and equipment) Manufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of jewelly and related articles Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods Maler works and supplies Electric light and power Electric light and power Water works and supplies 5. Construction Mholesale trade Retail trade Hotels Resaurants Mholesale trade Resaurants Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of machinery, and structural metal products machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products			•	••	-			
Manufacture of cement, lime and plaster. Iron and steel basic industries Non-ferrous metals basic industry Manufacture of metal products(except machinery and equipment) Manufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of jewelly and related articles Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods Maler works and supplies Electric light and power Electric light and power Water works and supplies 5. Construction Mholesale trade Retail trade Hotels Resaurants Mholesale trade Resaurants Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of machinery, and structural metal products machinery, radios, electric ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products		Manufacture of plass a	nd plass pro	duct				
Iron and steel basic industries Mon-ferrous metals basic industry Manufacture of metal products(except machinery and equipment) Manufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of jewelly and related articles Manufacture of susical instruments Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electricity, Gas and Water Electric light and power ESCOM Water works and supplies 5. Construction Building and construction 6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants Wholesale trade Including petrol stations Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services		_	-					
Non-ferrous metals basic industry. Manufacture of metal products(except machinery and equipment) Manaufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical). Manufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical). Manufacture of machinery including woodworking machinery, including woodworking machinery, radios, electric household appliances and motor vehicle ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electricity, Gas amd Water Electric light and power ESCOM Water works and supplies 5. Construction Construction Building and construction 6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants Wholesale trade Including petrol stations Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Retail trade Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars,etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services		•	•	0300				
Manufacture of metal products(except machinery and equipment) Manaufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of machinery including moodworking machinery, radios, electrical household appliances and motor vehicle ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electricity, Gas amd Water Electric light and power ESCOM Water works and supplies Electric light and power ESCOM Water works and supplies Mholesale trade Mholesale trade Retail trade Including petrol stations Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services				••				
Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, gener hardware, metal furniture and fittings and structural metal products Manufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical). Manufacture of machinery including woodworking machinery, radios, electring household appliances and motor vehicles ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electricity, Gas amd Water Electric light and power ESCOM Water works and supplies 5. Construction Construction Building and construction 6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants Wholesale trade Including petrol stations Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services			-					
Manaufacture of machinery and equipment (electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of jewelly and related articles Manufacture of jewelly and related articles Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods Manufacture of jewelly and related articles ship building (and repairers) ———————————————————————————————————		•		•	Manufacture of cutlery, hand tools, general			
(electrical and non-electrical) Manufacture of machinery including moodworking machinery, radios, electrical household appliances and motor vehicle ship building (and repairers) Manufacture of musical instruments Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electricity, Gas and Water Electric light and power ESCOM Water works and supplies 5. Construction Construction Building and construction 6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants Wholesale trade Including petrol stations Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services				•	•			
Manufacture of jewelly and related articles Manufacture of musical instruments Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Elecricity, Gas amd Water Electric light and power Water works and supplies 5. Construction Construction Construction 6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants. Wholesale trade Hotels				pment	·			
Manufacture of musical instruments Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electric light and power Electric light and power Water works and supplies Construction Construction Construction Trade, Hotels and Restaurants. Wholesale trade Retail trade Retail trade Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services		(electrical and non-el	ectrical)	••	woodworking machinery, radios, electrical household appliances and motor vehicle;			
Manufacture of musical instruments Manufacture of sporting and athletic goods 4. Electric light and power Electric light and power Water works and supplies Construction Construction Construction Trade, Hotels and Restaurants. Wholesale trade Retail trade Retail trade Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services		Manufacture of jewelly	and related	articles				
4. Electricity, Gas amd Water Electric light and power ESCOM Water works and supplies 5. Construction Construction Building and construction 6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants Wholesale trade Including petrol stations Hotels Including petrol stations Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services					· ·			
4. Electricity, Gas amd Water Electric light and power ESCOM Water works and supplies 5. Construction Construction Building and construction 6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants Wholesale trade Including petrol stations Hotels Including petrol stations Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services		Manufacture of sportin	o and athlet	ic poods				
Electric light and power Water works and supplies 5. Construction Construction Building and construction 6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants Wholesale trade Including petrol stations Hotels Places specializing in sleeping accommodation. Restaurants Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars, etc) with little or no accommodation. 7. Transport, Storage and Land transport Passenger and freight transport by rail and road and supporting services			•	,				
Water works and supplies	4.	Elecricity, Gas amd Wa	ter					
Water works and supplies		Electric light and now	er		ESCOM			
5. Construction Construction		-						
Construction		water works and authors	es	••				
6. Trade, Hotels and Restaurants Wholesale trade	5.	Construction						
Wholesale trade		Construction	••	••	Building and construction			
Retail trade	6.	Trade, Hotels and Rest	aurants					
Retail trade		Wholesale trade						
Hotels					Including metrol stations			
accommodation. Restaurants		U-4-1-		••	- •			
Restaurants		untera	••	• •				
7. Transport, Storage and Land transport		Restaurants			Places specializing in food and drink (cafes, bars,etc) with little or no			
and road and supporting services	7.	Transport, Storage and						
and road and supporting services								
Water transport Passenger and freight lake or river		Land transport	••	••	<u> </u>			
transport and supporting services;		Water transport		••	Passenger and freight lake or river transport and supporting services;			
Air transport Passenger and freight air transport including supporting service; air Mala		Air transport		••	Passenger and freight air transport including supporting service; air Malawi			
Communication Telephone and telegraph (not M.B.Csee below)		Communication		••	Telephone and telegraph (not M.B.Csee			

8. Finance, Insurance, Real Estate and Busisness Services

Monetary and financial institutions and .. Commercial Banks and Reserve Bank of services Malawi Insurance Real estate and busisness services Property agents: legal, accounting, data processing, engineering, architectural and advertising services including machinery rental. 9. Community, Social and Personal services Public administration and defence Sanitary and similar services Education services Research and scientific institutions Medical, dental and other health services veterinary services .. Religious organizations ... • • Social and related community services n.e.c. Action picture production, distribution and projection Radio broadcasting; M.B.C. Theatrical production and entertainment services n.e.c. Authors, musical composers and other independent artistis n.e.c. Libraries Museums .. Zoological gardens . . Recreation services n.e.c. Repairs of motor vehicles and motorcycles Repair services n.e.c. (**) Repairs of shoes, watches and clocks, radios and electrical items. Laundries and laundry services ... Dry cleaners; carpet cleaners Domestic services Domestic servants •• Barbers and beauty shops Personal and houesehold services m.e.c. .. Photographic studio International and other extra-territorial U.N. administration, Embassies and High bodies n.e.c. Commissions (specialized personnel not at Headquarters should be categorized in accordance with their personal

NOTE 1. Headings throughout the table are inserted merely for guidance.

occupation).

- 2. n.e.c. = not elsewhere classified
- 3. (**) =give details of the product in brackets.
- 4. Government: name of department to be shown